Public Document Pack



Simon Hobbs

Director of Legal and Democratic Services County Hall Matlock Derbyshire DE4 3AG

Extension 38324 Direct Dial 01629 538324 Ask for Alisha Parker

PUBLIC

To: Members of Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee

Friday, 27 December 2019

Dear Councillor,

Please attend a meeting of the **Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee** to be held at <u>2.00 pm</u> on <u>Thursday, 9 January 2020</u> in Committee Room 3, County Hall, Matlock, Derbyshire, DE4 3AG, the agenda for which is set out below.

Yours faithfully,

Simon Hobbs

Director of Legal and Democratic Services

AGENDA

PART I - NON-EXEMPT ITEMS

1. Apologies for absence

To receive apologies for absence (if any)

Declarations of Interest

To receive declarations of interest (if any)

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)

To confirm the non-exempt minutes of the meeting of the Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee held on 03 October 2019.

To consider the non-exempt report of the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health on:

4. Report of the Local Government Ombudsman on an Investigation into Complaint No 16 00 61 95 against Derbyshire County Council (Pages 5 - 42)

PUBLIC

MINUTES of a meeting of the GOVERNANCE, ETHICS AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE held on 03 October 2019 at County Hall, Matlock

PRESENT

Councillor C Short (in the Chair)

Councillors K Buttery, J Coyle, K Gillott, A Griffiths, L Grooby, J Innes, and J Perkins

Also in attendance – L Newby MBE (Independent Person)

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors A Fox and C Moesby, and K Jackson-Horner (Independent Person)

- **MINUTES RESOLVED** that the minutes of the meeting of the Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee held on 04 July 2019 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
- **17/19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST** Councillor J Coyle and K Gillott declared a personal interest in respect of Item 4 on the Agenda by virtue of being part of the administration at Derbyshire County Council during the period the complaint was first received.
- AN INVESTIGATION INTO COMPLAINT NO 18 000 932

 AGAINST DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

 A recent case had been investigated by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) who had made a finding of fault by the Council causing injustice to the complainant.

The child had experienced significant difficulties from an early age with their behaviour and communication with others. This individual was diagnosed with autism and received support via a statement of special educational needs to transition to secondary school.

Whilst at secondary school, this individual's behaviour continued to deteriorate which impacted on their attendance. In the beginning the school and the parent agreed that the child should go home for lunch and be brought back for the afternoon sessions as they were unable to manage his behaviour over lunch times. Over time this increased and by year 8 onwards his overall attendance was very low. The parent reported that he was very vulnerable to outside influences in the community at that time and his behaviour at home also worsened.

The individual received a significant level of support from the local multi-agency team who worked with both child and parent to improve school attendance. A social care initial assessment was completed in December 2013 and core assessment in February 2014 at which time both the child and his brother were placed on a child protection plan. They remained on a child protection plan until October 2014 when professionals felt it was no longer necessary. The individual had also been supported by medical professionals for a number of years during which time he had been prescribed a number of different medications to help manage behaviour. This had resulted in long periods of instability which had impacted significantly on his ability to cope with day to day life.

The LGSCO notified the Council of its intention to investigate on 9th May 2018, requesting a copy of the report and adjudication letter sent to the parent. As a result of its investigation, the LGSCO notified the Council of its intention to issue a public report on this matter a copy of which was attached for information.

The LGSCO found the following faults:

- While there were attempts to encourage the individual to attend school he attended little and there were no structured alternative provisions.
- There was no evidence that reviews took place after Year 10.
- The annual reviews of the statement were ineffective. Once the Council
 considered the report from the annual reviews it should have asked more
 questions about what was being delivered. This would have revealed it
 was not providing what the Statement required and what the child was
 entitled to receive.
- There were significant delays in considering the complaint.

The LGSCO also found the following fault causing injustice:

- The failure to provide the child's SEN support, particularly speech and language therapy (SALT), represented fault that caused potentially significant impact to the individual.
- Between 2011 and 2014 the child's attendance deteriorated significantly.
 Whilst not all issues he faced were due to education, and whilst at times
 it was unlikely he could have engaged with education, as the Council had
 identified, he needed the support set out in his statement and the LGSCO
 was satisfied he was caused disadvantage.
- Both parents were left with a degree of distress and uncertainty about how much of a difference SALT provision may have helped the child during his school years.
- The LGSCO welcomed the apology the Council had provided to the parent and the actions the Council agreed to take to improve its

processes and procedures following this complaint. However, as the impact was significant the LGSCO considered a financial remedy appropriate to recognise the damage to the child's education.

The fault identified meant that the individual missed out on education and SEN provision for the majority of his secondary school years. The LGSCO welcomed that the Council accepted the findings and agreed to the following recommendations:

- The Council would make a payment of £22,500 to the individual to reflect the impact of the missed provision. In part, this could be used to fund a shed that would help manage his mental health, with the remainder placed in a trust for him. This recommendation had now been actioned and the agreed payment made to the individual.
- The Council would recognise the impact on the parent from the lack of provision for the individual and the distress and uncertainty about how much the provision may have helped him over an extended period. To reflect this the Council should pay the parent £1000. recommendation had now been actioned and the agreed payment made to the parent.

In addition to the above recommendations the following actions had also been taken:

- The Council had placed two public notice announcements in two local newspapers/websites within two weeks of the LGSCO publishing the report. It had also made copies of the report available free of charge at one or more of the Council Offices. This was a required action in relation to a public report issued by the LGSCO and had been completed by Legal services.
- The Council was also required to arrange for the report to be placed before the Council's, Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee and inform the LGSCO when this had been done. This report fulfilled this required action in relation to a public report issued by the LGSCO.
- The Council would provide evidence to confirm the required actions had been taken in accordance with the agreed remedy.
- The learning from this investigation was to be shared with both Schools and SEND services to ensure such a situation is mitigated against for the future. This was being taken forward by the Service Director, Schools & Learning and the Head of Service for SEND.
- Management oversight of attendance at school for children and young people with SEND had also been added to the Children's Services risk register.

RESOLVED to note the findings of the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and the action which has been taken by the Council in response to the Ombudsman's report.

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Governance, Ethics and Standards Committee

9 January 2020

Report of the Executive Director Adult Social Care and Health

Report of the Local Government Ombudsman on an Investigation into Complaint No 16 00 61 95 against Derbyshire County Council

1. Purpose of the Report

To inform the Standards Committee of a recent case investigated by the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) who has made a finding of fault by the Council causing injustice to the complainant. A copy of the LGO report is attached at appendix 1.

2. Background

Mrs C was admitted to the Grange Care Home in Eckington in November 2015. She suffered from dementia, type 2 diabetes and osteoporosis. Prior to being admitted to the Grange, Mrs C lived at home in the community. In November 2015, Mrs C took an accidental overdose which resulted in her being admitted to hospital. She was discharged to the Staveley Centre and was subsequently admitted to hospital again following a fall and was discharged to the Grange in December 2015.

In total, between 2nd December 2015 and 26th March 2016 care home staff recorded finding Mrs C on the floor on 25 occasions. A referral to the falls team was not made and a risk assessment was not completed. During her stay at the Grange Care home records detailed that Mrs C sustained a number of injuries following falls.

On 15th December 2015 Mrs C reported to a night care worker that she had been hit by someone and that this happened 'all the time'. A record of Mrs C's allegation was made but no further action was taken. On 18th December 2015 Mrs C's GP visited her as she had a swollen and sore mouth. She was diagnosed with a mouth infection but the GP was not told that Mrs C may have swallowed paint from the wall having been observed by staff to have picked at it. Mrs C went to hospital on 23rd January 2016 when staff called paramedics after finding her unresponsive. Her medical discharge notes did not state the cause for her unresponsiveness, but staff believed it was connected to her to her diabetes.

Mrs C experienced an unwitnessed fall on 25th March 2016. Standard procedure was followed and staff did not find any apparent injuries. On 26th March 2019 Mrs C was found unresponsive and she was admitted to hospital. When she arrived at hospital she was found to have four fractured ribs and serious chest injuries. The hospital raised a safeguarding alert with the Council on the day of Mrs C's admission.

Mrs C sadly passed away three weeks later in hospital on 16th April 2016. The safeguarding investigation opened following the alert from the hospital continued to run after Mrs C's death and the handling of this is the subject of part of the complaint.

Subsequent to her death Mrs C's brother, Mr B, made a complaint to the Care Quality Commission regarding the care for his sister at the Grange. This resulted in the CQC prosecuting the Council for breaching regulation 12, failing to provide safe care and support resulting in avoidable harm. The Council pleaded guilty and was fined £500, 000 at Chesterfield Magistrates Court on 9th December 2019.

3. The Complaint

The complaint

The complainant is the brother of Mrs C and is referred to in the report as Mr B. Mr B complained to the LGO that the Council failed in a number of areas in the care provided to his sister. The complaints are grouped in order to align with the structure of the LGO's report. The complainant stated that the Council;

Falls

- Did not tell him and other family members about a series of falls that Mrs C experienced at the care home;
- Failed to carry out any falls risk assessment during Mrs C's time living at the home;
- Failed to inform paramedics of falls Mrs C experienced in January 2016;
- Failed to call paramedics when Mrs C experienced a fall on 25 March 2016 until the following day;

Monitoring Weight

 Failed to adequately monitor Mrs C's weight while she lived at the care home and ensure she maintained a healthy Body Mass Index (BMI);

Other incidents

- Did not investigate allegations made by Mrs C during her time at the care home that she was hit by members of staff;
- Did not inform Mrs C's GP that she may have chewed paint from the walls of her room around the time she suffered a mouth infection:

Reorganisation of Care services

• Did not ensure safe staffing of the care home further to a re-organisation of its care services concurrent with Mrs C's time there:

Action taken after Mrs C's hospital admission on 26th March 2016

- Failed to carry out an effective safeguarding investigation after Mrs C was admitted to hospital on 26 March 2016 and concerns were raised about serious injuries she had on admission; and
- Failed to carry out an effective investigation of Mr B's complaints about Mrs C's care.

4. Findings

Falls

The LGO found fault, causing injustice in the following areas:

The Council failed to carry out an adequate pre-admission assessment of Mrs C which should have taken account of her history of falls prior to admission to the Grange. The LGO found that the Council repeatedly failed to complete a falls risk assessment which had been identified as necessary during the admission process. The falls Mrs C did experience at the home were not consistently or adequately recorded and the family were not informed of the extent of the pattern of falls. Mrs C's pattern of falls was not acted upon during monthly reviews of her support. As a result of these failings, the LGO considered that Mrs C did not receive safe care and treatment in line with the CQC's fundamental standards.

Monitoring Weight

The LGO found fault, causing injustice in the following areas:

Firstly, the LGO found that the council failed to complete an adequate nutritional assessment for Mrs C when she entered the care home. Secondly, the Council failed to respond and complete such an assessment after Mrs C's weight dropped significantly in her first month in the care home. Thirdly, the Council failed to record Mrs C's weight accurately and consistently. Fourthly, the Council failed to keep adequate records regarding Mrs C's fluid intake. Fifthly; there was a lack of clarity around whether or not the Council considered Mrs C's diabetes when managing her diet. These repeated failings lead the LGO to find that the Council did not meet Mrs C's nutrition and hydration needs in line with the CQC's fundamental standards.

Complaints about other incidents while at the care home

The LGO found that the Council was at fault in not considering whether an allegation made by Mrs C that she was hit by a member of staff justified a safeguarding investigation.

The LGO found that there was a flaw in the way records were kept following a GP visit and questioned how Mrs C was able to pick paint off from her bedroom wall and ingest it.

Complaints about the restructuring and Staffing Levels

The LGO found fault, causing injustice in the following area:

The LGO found the response to staffing problems following the restructure was ineffective which meant that mandatory risk assessments were not being completed as they should have been.

Complaints about events following Mrs C's hospital admission on 26th March 2016

The LGO found fault, causing injustice in the following area:

The LGO found the Council was at fault by failing to consider whether Mrs C's death should have been referred to Derbyshire's safeguarding Adults Board which was part of a wider procedural failing by the Council with respect to its safeguarding obligations. The LGO acknowledges that the work undertaken by the Council since late 2016 demonstrates that it has learnt appropriate lessons around management of care for individual service users and can demonstrate satisfactory reviews by the CQC and Healthwatch.

Actions:

The Council has accepted the LGO's recommendations in full. A full and unreserved apology has been offered to Mr B and arrangements have been made for the Executive Director, Adult Social Care and Health and the Service Director, Adult Social Care to meet Mr B and other family members on 16th January 2020. The Council has agreed to make a payment of £1,000 to a registered charity of Mr B's choice and to pay for a memorial for his sister. Mrs C's estate has been refunded with all fees paid to the Grange Care Home.

In accordance with the recommendations of the LGO, the Council has undertaken a further review of Mrs C's death with a specific focus on the key areas of concern identified in the report. As a result of this review a Quality Improvement Board has been established. The Board is chaired by the Assistant Director and involves Group Mangers (Heads of Service) across the directorate in order to ensure that the quality and improvement of the Council's directly provided services is the responsibility of the whole

Page 8

directorate and not just Direct Care. The work of the board has been split in to six critical work streams which were identified in response to the LGO's findings; Safe Services, Quality Recording, Quality Monitoring and Improvement, Quality Workforce, Communications and Quality Policies and Procedures. A summary action plan, appendix 2, identifies actions identified and progress to date.

1. Safe Services

The LGO recommended that the Council conduct a review into three aspects of its current safeguarding procedure; firstly it was asked to conduct a review of safeguarding procedures to consider whether they currently contain enough guidance to managers on what cases meet the threshold for beginning enquiries; secondly; a review of procedures to ensure that managers who are asked to complete enquiries are clear about the form in which these should be made and presented and thirdly a review of safeguarding procedures to make sure they take account of the views of families and what standards are expected with regard to communications with families. This should include providing explanations to families on what safeguarding procedures are and how they work.

The Council has conducted a review of all its safeguarding policies, all of which are available on the Safeguarding Adults Board website. This review included an appraisal of the information available regarding communication with families during safeguarding investigations. To ensure that staff working within the Council's directly provided services understand their responsibilities with respect to safeguarding, the Council's Lead for safeguarding conducted two workshops for all Unit Mangers and service mangers to provide guidance and answer questions. Staff in attendance were provided with the policies setting out how to make a referral, including the referral document and the decision making thresholds.

In addition to the review described above and in order to ensure that the Council is able to generate a clear picture of safeguarding issues across the county, a new incident form has been created and is currently in the final stages of development. It is expected that this will be in use across the Council's directly provided services early in 2020. Further guidance will be issued with this form to assist workers to navigate the safeguarding process.

The data from the new incident report form will feed in to the Council's 'Dashboard' programme which is described below. This will allow for the central collection of Adult Social Care's performance data from across the County. This data will be monitored by the Group Manager for Quality and Compliance and reported to the Adult Social Care senior management team and the Corporate Governance Group as appropriate.

2. Quality Recording

As part of its review the LGO recommended that the Council review its ability to generate a complete audit trail of amendments made to its assessments. This review revealed that whilst the Council's electronic recording system (MOSAIC) can identify when and by whom an 'uncompleted' document is modified, it is unable to record the detail of the modification unless the document is marked as 'complete'.

The Council recognises that this creates difficulties if evidence of specific modification is required at a later date as it was in this instance. Following this review, the Service Manager responsible for Mosaic has attended the workshops for Unit Mangers in order to provide guidance about the recording and completion of Personal Service Plans and risk assessments. Individual support and training to managers at residential homes and units for people with learning disabilities continues to be offered.

As part of the review the LGO recommended that the Council review whether it can improve record keeping in care homes using both electronic and paper records in order to ensure that records are not missed. In completing this review the Council has concluded that at present there is a need to record daily logs on paper as the care workers completing these logs do not always have access to IT systems. To address any problems created by having paper and electronic records, all daily logs will be uploaded to the electronic file at the end of every day so there is one complete record.

The Council accepts that a system where records can be generated electronically through the use of handheld tablets would have a number of benefits. However, before any roll out of this technology can be considered, the wireless access (wifi) capacity in some of the homes requires significant improvement. To try and address the current connection issues, £11, 500 has been invested into piloting a scheme which has resulted in two homes having significantly increased capacity. This trial will last three months and the results will be presented to Adult Care's Senior Management Team in February 2020. If the trial is successful it will be proposed that there is an investment in technology to ensure that staff working within residential care services have access to hand held 'tablets' upon which they can easily record all information contemporaneously. This is will also allow quick access for staff to relevant policies and procedures. If the trial is not successful, other options to ensure that a full electronic record can be efficiently created will be considered.

As part of the review the LGO recommended that the Council review its current capture of information when GPs visit its care homes. The LGO advised the Council that it should ensure these records are sufficiently clear to enable understanding about why GPs have visited and to record the GP advice given.

The review revealed that there is a clear expectation that information regarding GP visits should be recorded and that a record should be made on MOSAIC and the daily logs.

3. Quality Monitoring and Improvement

In response to the review into Mrs C's death, the Council has recognised that it needs to improve the way that it is directly provided services are monitored. To effect this change the Council has employed three additional officers to work within its central Quality and Compliance Team, a Group Manager and two Senior Project officers. The Group Manager has been employed to lead this team with a focus solely on quality and compliance. This officer will report directly to the Assistant Director post created following the recent restructure of the senior leadership team within adult care. It is anticipated that this structure will enhance the Council's ability to assure itself that the services provided are of the high standard expected.

The two Senior Project officers have been appointed to deliver new, centrally managed, monitoring arrangements within the Quality and Compliance team. These staff will visit each service four times per year to ensure a consistent and robust approach to quality monitoring across the county. Previously, all monitoring had been undertaken at a local level creating difficulty in achieving effective central oversight. This will help ensure consistency across the service and enhance the Council's ability to pick up themes and trends centrally.

The Council has established a central 'Dashboard' which monitors the performance of its care homes by measuring across six key metrics; staffing vacancies, occupancy, incidents (including trips and falls and medication errors), training, complaints and CQC rating. The data is drawn from the Council's recording system and there are two 'levels'. Firstly there is a high level summary report showing performance across all in-house residential care. This allows for themes and trends across the County to be monitored. Secondly there is a more detailed report which relates to a specific home which can be used by managers responsible for the performance of that home.

As part of this review a clear process for social workers to highlight any concerns they have about a particular care home or home care service has been established. Social workers are now asked to complete a 'contract monitoring form' if they have any concerns about any of the Council's directly provided services. This process brings alignment with the private and voluntary sector.

This review has identified a need for Council wide scrutiny of Adult Care's directly provided services. A senior member of the leadership team has consulted with internal audit and as part of its annual work programme, auditors will be invited to review the effectiveness of the governance

Page 11

arrangements for direct care. As part of the review an external expert has been invited to comment upon the proposed action plan and make recommendations. There is continued recognition that external expertise should be sought where the Quality Improvement Board recognises that there would be added benefit.

A Corporate Governance Group has been established and is developing a Code of Corporate Governance. This will ensure that there is corporate oversight of all of the Council's services. The group is made of the most senior officers from across the Council and includes internal audit.

4. Effective Policies and Procedures

As part of its review into Mrs C's death, the Council instructed an independent expert to review 12 policies and procedures critical to its direct care provision. The expert noted that a number of the policies were due to be reviewed but commented more broadly that they were comprehensive and fit for purpose. Those reviews identified as being required have all been undertaken with the exception of two which are expected to be completed by the end of January 2020.

The lead for this work stream will oversee a full review of these critical policies and procedures to ensure that all systems and processes are clear, consistent and understood by all staff. This review will involve operational leads and health care professionals where appropriate.

Work to revise the current falls policy and guidance is underway. To ensure that all national best practice is followed the Council is engaging with local system partners to support the process.

5. Strengthening Communication

As a result of the review into the death of Mrs C the Council has recognised the need for consistency across its provision and that communication regarding its expectations is critical to ensuring that high standards across the County are maintained. Therefore the Council has included this as a specific work stream.

It is anticipated that the new senior leadership structure within Adult Care will assist with communication across the department and ensure that messages delivered to staff are clear and consistent across the provision.

6. Quality Workforce

As part of ensuring that officers working within its direct care provision are well supported and well trained the Council has improved its ability to monitor which of its staff have completed mandatory training. This new system ensures that relevant managers are alerted when training is due for renewal

Page 12

and has been adopted by Adult Social Care in response to the lessons learned following this review. It is anticipated that the system will take full effect early in 2020. This information will be centrally recorded on the dashboard so the Council has a clear picture across the County with respect to training.

A review of all of the roles and responsibilities of staff working within the Adult Social Care departments directly provided services will be conducted to ensure there is clarity and consistency. Strong support and performance management has been identified as being critical in providing assurance about the quality of the service. Officers will be supported in understanding and implementing relevant HR procedures.

A review of the content of all relevant training will be undertaken to ensure it continues to develop and remains fit for purpose and this work will start in January 2020, initially focusing on falls training.

Restructuring services

As part of its review the LGO recommended that the Council review how it avoids gaps in provision when undertaking restructuring of its services. Following the review the Council recognises that its response to emerging staffing difficulties during the restructure could have been swifter. To ensure that there is stronger oversight and swifter action in the future the Council will include in any restructure the identification of all associated risks and proposed mitigations, within its Adult Social Care Risk Register. Emerging risks around restructures will be reviewed on a weekly basis by the Senior Management Team. This will provide assurance that sufficient information is available to allow for appropriate provision to be made.

Additional steps taken

In response to the review into Mrs C's death the Council commissioned an independent expert to review practice at the Grange. There were some minor recommendations which have been addressed but the independent expert concluded that the quality of care provided at the Grange is 'good' in accordance with CQC standards. This was confirmed at the most recent inspection of the Grange completed by the CQC.

The same independent expert has been commissioned to provide a further report commenting upon the Council's proposals for the continued monitoring and improvement of its services with particular reference to LGO's report and the Action Plan devised by the Quality and Improvement Board.

5. Legal and Human Rights Considerations

The Local Government Ombudsman's powers are defined by the Local Government Act 1974 as amended by the Local Government and Public Page 13

Involvement in Health Act 2007. The Ombudsman may investigate complaints of maladministration causing injustice.

The Ombudsman cannot question whether a council's decisions are right or wrong simply because the complainant disagrees with them. He must consider whether there was fault in the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974, section 34(3)).

6. Financial Considerations

The Council has refunded Mrs C's estate with all care fees paid to the Grange amounting to £9,628.21. The Council has agreed to make a contribution of £1,000 to a charity of Mr B's choice.

7. Other Considerations

In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors have also been considered: prevention of crime and disorder, equality and diversity, environmental, health, property and transport considerations.

8. Officer Recommendation

That the Standards Committee notes the findings of the Local Government Ombudsman and the action which has been taken by the Council in response to the Ombudsman's report.

Helen Jones
Executive Director Adult Social Care and Health



Report by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Investigation into a complaint against Derbyshire County Council (reference number: 16 006 195)

29 November 2019

The Ombudsman's role

For more than 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated complaints. We effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our jurisdiction by recommending redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable based on all the facts of the complaint. Our service is free of charge.

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs and circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make recommendations to remedy injustice caused by fault.

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost always do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are:

- > apologise
- > pay a financial remedy
- improve its procedures so similar problems don't happen again.

Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally name or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a letter or job role.

Key to names used

Mr B The complainant

Mrs C The complainant's late sister

Officer X A Council manager with responsibility for its residential care

services

Report summary

Adult Care Services

Mr B complains about multiple failings in the care received by his late sister, Mrs C, when she was resident at the Grange Care Home between November 2015 and March 2016, which is owned and run by the Council. In particular, there were serious failings in its response after Mrs C died following a fall in the care home.

Finding

Fault found, causing injustice and recommendations made.

Recommendations

The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended).

In addition to the requirements set out above, to remedy the injustice caused by this complaint the Council agrees that within three months of the date of this report it will:

- give an unreserved apology to Mr B accepting the findings of this investigation. It has said it will meet in person with Mr B to deliver this;
- make a payment of £1,000 to a registered charity of Mr B's choice;
- offer to pay for a memorial for Mrs C such as a park bench or tree planted in her memory, subject to agreement with Mr B about matters such as his preferences and location.
- undertake a further review to see what further lessons might be learned from this complaint. Full details are set out in the body of this report, but this will include the Council:
 - considering how it can ensure there is an audit trail of assessments left partially completed;
 - improve its record keeping in care homes using both electronic and paper records;
 - improve its capture of information when GPs visit its care homes;
 - reviewing several aspects of its current safeguarding procedures;
 and
 - how it can avoid gaps in service provision when undertaking restructuring of services.

The complaint

- We have called the complainant 'Mr B'. He complains about the care received by his late sister 'Mrs C' who lived at The Grange Care Home ('the care home') between November 2015 and March 2016. The Council owns and runs the care home.
- Mr B complains the Council:
 - did not tell him and other family members about a series of falls Mrs C experienced at the care home;
 - failed to carry out any falls risk assessment during Mrs C's time living at the home:
 - failed to inform paramedics of falls Mrs C experienced in January 2016;
 - failed to call paramedics when Mrs C experienced a fall on 25 March 2016 until the following day:
 - failed to adequately monitor Mrs C's weight while she lived at the care home or to ensure she maintained a healthy Body Mass Index (BMI);
 - did not investigate allegations made by Mrs C during her time at the care home that she was hit by members of staff;
 - did not inform Mrs C's GP that she may have chewed paint from the walls of her room around the time she suffered a mouth infection;
 - did not ensure safe staffing of the care home further to a re-organisation of its care services concurrent with Mrs C's time there;
 - failed to carry out an effective safeguarding investigation after Mrs C was admitted to hospital on 26 March 2016 and it raised concerns about serious injuries she had on admission. Mrs C subsequently died of her injuries; and
 - failed to carry out an effective investigation of Mr B's complaints about Mrs C's care.
- a. Mr B says as a result of the above Mrs C received a poor quality of care during her time in the care home, causing her needless distress. Further the poor care she received contributed to her death, a finding supported by the Coroner who carried out an inquest in April 2018. Mr B says this in turn has caused him and the wider family distress, now believing Mrs C was inappropriately placed at the care home. Had Mr B realised the poor quality of care received by Mrs C, he would have taken steps to ensure her safety.

What we have investigated

Because there has been a Coroner's inquest in this case, we have not investigated the immediate circumstances surrounding Mrs C's fall on 25 March 2016 which led to her death. However, we have considered Mr B's wider complaints about poor quality care. We note the Coroner also considered some of the background to events on 25 March and criticised the Council's care planning as contributing to Mrs C's death. We consider there is public interest in investigating that care planning further. We have also investigated how the Council reacted to Mrs C's admission to hospital and subsequent death and

contacts from her family in response. These were not matters covered by the Coroner's inquest.

The Ombudsman's role and powers

- s. We investigate complaints about 'maladministration' and 'service failure'. In this report, we have used the word 'fault' to refer to these. We must also consider whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the complaint. We refer to this as 'injustice'. If there has been fault which has caused an injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1), as amended)
- a. We produced this report after examining relevant documents and interviewing the Mr B. We also listened to statements given by key personnel for the Council at the inquest into Mrs C's death.
- 7. We gave Mr B and the Council a confidential draft of this report and invited his comments. The comments received were taken into account before the report was finalised.

What we found

Relevant legal and administrative considerations

- The Council arranged care for Mrs C under duties set out in the Care Act 2014. In this case the Council was also the care provider being registered to provide residential care at the care home, including for those with dementia.
- The Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014 set out the 'fundamental standards' which all care providers should meet in delivering care. We consider the 2014 Regulations and the Guidance when determining complaints about poor standards of care.
- Of relevance to this complaint are the following.
 - Regulation 12 "Safe care and treatment". This regulation aims to prevent
 people from receiving unsafe care and treatment and prevent avoidable harm
 or risk of harm. Providers must assess the risks to people's health and safety
 during any care or treatment. Guidance says providers must do what is
 reasonably practicable to mitigate risks.
 - Regulation 13 "Safeguarding service users from abuse and improper treatment". The intention of this regulation is to safeguard people who use services from suffering any form of abuse or improper treatment while receiving care and treatment. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) say providers must have a 'zero tolerance' approach to all kinds of abuse including neglect. Providers must take appropriate action without delay through having 'robust procedures' in place to investigate incidents.
 - Regulation 14 "Meeting nutritional and hydration needs". Providers must
 ensure people have enough to eat and drink to meet their nutrition and
 hydration needs and receive the support they need to do so. This is to reduce
 risks of malnutrition and dehydration.
 - Regulation 15 "Premises and equipment". This regulation aims to ensure premises where care and treatment are delivered are suitable, clean and well maintained.

- Regulation 17 'Good governance'. This regulation requires providers have systems and procedures in place to meet other regulatory requirements.
 Systems and procedures should assess, monitor and mitigate any risks relating to the health, safety and welfare of people using services. Providers must also maintain accurate, complete and detailed records for each person using the service.
- Regulation 20 "Duty of candour". This says that providers should be open
 and transparent with people who use their services and other relevant persons
 acting lawfully on their behalf. The CQC says the regulation promotes
 openness and honesty at all levels as an integral part of a culture of safety that
 supports organisational and personal learning. It says care providers should
 apologise when things go wrong.
- Regulation 18 of the CQC (Registration) Regulations 2009 says care providers must report all incidents to the CQC which result in serious injury to a service user. Regulation 16 requires care providers to report the death of users of services which "have, or may have, resulted from the carrying on of a regulated activity".
- The Council also has a wider legal responsibility to safeguard adults. It must set up a safeguarding adult board which has a strategic role in publishing plans setting out how it will meet its objectives and publishing an annual report. But it must also decide when a safeguarding adults review is necessary. This includes circumstances where an adult has died and the board "knows or suspects that the death resulted from abuse or neglect" (care Act 2014, section 44). In addition, in any case where the Council has reasonable cause to suspect abuse of an adult who needs care and support, it must make whatever enquiries it thinks necessary to decide whether any action should be taken to protect the adult. (care Act 2014, section 42)
- 13. The aims of adult safeguarding are to:
 - prevent harm and reduce the risk of abuse or neglect to adults with care and support needs;
 - stop abuse or neglect wherever possible;
 - safeguard adults in a way that supports them in making choices and having control about how they want to live;
 - promote an approach that concentrates on improving life for the adults concerned:
 - raise public awareness so that communities, as well as professionals, play their part in preventing, identifying and responding to abuse and neglect;
 - provide information and support in accessible ways to help people understand the different types of abuse, how to stay safe and what to do to raise a concern about the safety or well-being of an adult; and
 - address what has caused the abuse or neglect.

(Care and Support Statutory Guidance, 14.11)

Key facts

The complaints about falls

Mrs C was a single woman who in 2015 was diagnosed as suffering from dementia. She also had diabetes and osteoporosis. Mrs C's dementia caused her

anxiety, agitation and affected her ability to communicate. She became fearful of falling and would often fall. Mrs C became known to the Council during 2015 when it arranged some home care for her. However, there were concerns for her self-care and in November 2015 Mrs C went to hospital after accidentally taking the wrong medication. After three days she was discharged to the Staveley Centre a respite care facility owned and managed by the Council. This was to assess if she needed residential care.

- While in respite care, staff observed Mrs C suffering frequent falls, usually described as 'slides to the floor'. She experienced at least nine falls in under three weeks. However, the Staveley Centre did not undertake a falls risk assessment. At the end of November 2015 Mrs C was readmitted to hospital following one of these falls when she reported pain. Four days after that she was discharged again, this time to The Grange, the care home at the centre of this complaint.
- Staff at the care home used two types of record keeping. There were electronic case notes which tracked Mrs C's involvement with the Council including the notes made in the respite care home. They also kept hand-written notes at times, for example in completing a daily care home log and recording a list of GP visits. During the inquest into Mrs C's death the manager at the care home said they had not checked the electronic records which showed Mrs C's history of falls.
- 17. The Council has a policy document for its care home staff called "Falls Prevention in Residential Homes". In the introduction to the 2013 version, in force at the time of these events (subsequently revised) the document says that many falls, trips and slips can be prevented. It says care home managers should complete a falls risk assessment 'on admission'. They should put in place a plan to try and reduce the risk of falls for residents found at high risk.
- 10. The policy recommends managers consider a range of 'person specific' risk factors in risk assessments. For example, considering how matters such as medications, footwear or use of mobility aids may contribute to falls. It provides advice on such matters; for example, listing medications known to produce a higher risk of falls which included two medications taken by Mrs C. It provides detailed advice on how different medical diagnoses, such as dementia, can influence likelihood of falls. It says staff can consider measures such as hip protector pads or bedrails to try and prevent or minimise harm from falls. Sensor pads can also be used to alert staff when a resident gets out of bed. The policy provides detailed advice on using care planning to reduce the risk of falls. The policy encourages care homes to always keep under review residents at high risk of falls and measures in place to prevent this. It also explains staff can contact its specialist falls prevention team for advice and further assessment.
- 19. The policy also gives staff advice on legal requirements, including when care homes must complete a 'RIDDOR' form (the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations) to the Health & Safety Executive (HSE). This includes where accidents result in residents having to attend hospital because of an injury.
- 20. During her first week in the care home, staff undertook some initial care planning for Mrs C. This comprised a central care plan document which identified Mrs C had a history of falls. The care home recorded Mrs C's medications. The main care plan document prompted the care home to undertake a falls risk assessment. However, the care home did not do so.

- 21. During her stay at the care home a care worker completed a 'monthly review' of Mrs C's care. The January 2016 review noted Ms C had experienced a number of falls and she had some bruising. But the care home recorded taking no further action.
- In total, between November 2015 and March 2016 the care home recorded finding Mrs C on the floor on 25 occasions. In some cases care home staff completed a 'falls, trips and slips' record, which explained where and how they had found Mrs C and recorded any signs of injury. On several occasions the forms note 'family will be informed' of the incident. However, Mr B, who visited his sister frequently says that he was not told of the amount of times staff found Mrs C on the floor. Some falls were recorded only in the daily care home log with no 'falls, trips and slips' form completed.
- Care home records detailed various injuries Mrs C sustained. During December 2015, care home records show Mrs C had bruising or swelling on both arms and elbows. On one occasion she had two grazes to her head. A GP recorded Mrs C having multiple bruises on her hips and leg. In January 2016 the care home recorded Mrs C having grazing on her back and shoulder. She also had a swollen elbow on one occasion and a swollen ankle on another. In March 2016 it recorded her having a small skin tear to her right leg and grazing to her elbow. A body map completed on 3 March showed a bruise and skin tear on her back. On 16 March the care home called Mrs C's GP following a fall and her complaining of pain in her left arm. It explained to the GP that Mrs C had fallen out of bed. However, there is nothing in the care home records that refers to this. The GP examined and described a soft tissue injury.
- 24. Care home records also documented that on 23 January 2016 staff called paramedics after finding Mrs C slumped while on the toilet in her room, describing her as unresponsive. Mrs C went to hospital but returned to the care home later that day. Her medical discharge notes did not state the cause for her unresponsiveness, but staff believed it was connected to her diabetes.
- 25. On 25 March 2016 Mrs C suffered an unwitnessed fall in the care home lounge. Care home staff reported Mrs C saying she had pain in her left side but they could not detect any injuries. So, they did not seek any medical help for Mrs C.
- In the early hours of 26 March 2016 Mrs C was found unresponsive. Staff believed this was similar to the previous episode. Paramedics were called. They were not told of Mrs C's fall the previous evening.
 - The complaint about monitoring weight
- 27. The care plan completed by the care home when Mrs C moved in noted she had lost weight and needed prompting to eat meals. It also noted Mrs C had diabetes and would need healthy meals with a comment that she needed to watch her sugar intake. The form prompted the care home to complete a nutritional assessment.
- 20. The Council says a deputy home manager began completing the nutritional risk assessment but did not finish it. There is a completed assessment in Mrs C's care records but this is dated 3 April 2016, when she was in hospital. The Council says it is not possible to say how much of the document it had completed before 3 April.
- 28. The assessment documentation required the care home to record Mrs C's Body Mass Index (BMI). The BMI is a measure using height and weight to calculate if someone has a healthy weight. A healthy BMI is one between 18.5 and 24.9. The

assessment records Mrs C's BMI once at 25 and once at between 18.5 and 20. It has no reference to her height or weight. The lower reading would mean Mrs C was considered at medium risk of malnutrition. The assessment paperwork says this should trigger further action, including providing a high calorie and high protein diet. The notes accompanying the risk assessment also say the Council should monitor and record food and fluid intake for at least four days and undertake weekly checks of weight, as well as regularly reviewing the nutritional assessment.

- The care home weighed Mrs C occasionally, with it recording her height as 5ft 1inch (or around 1.55m). Mr B says this was not correct and her height was 5ft 3inches. On admission to the care home at the beginning of December 2015 Mrs C weighed 53kg giving her a calculated BMI of 21. On 27 December 2015 the care home recorded Mrs C weighed 46kg. It did not record her BMI, but we calculate it to be around 18.5 based on Mr B's statement of her height. A week later Mrs C's weight increased to 48kg and stayed the same when next recorded on 17 January 2016. By 14 February 2016 it had dropped again to 45kg, but the care home recorded Mrs C's BMI as 20. We calculate it would be 18.5 based on the care home's measurement of height and 17.5 based on Mr B's understanding of her height. There was no further recording until 17 March 2016 when the care home recorded Mrs C's weight was 49kg (all figures rounded up or down to the nearest kilogram). This would give her a BMI of between 19 and 20 depending on which height measurement is used.
- The care home kept weekly logs of food and drink taken by Mrs C, although these did not always record quantities.
- Mr B says the family noted Mrs C's weight loss while at the care home. In February 2016 they bought new clothes for her, because Mrs C had dropped two dress sizes. Mr B says he asked to see records of Mrs C's weight but these were not provided.
- In the care home notes are references to Mrs C eating sugary foods and sometimes having raised blood sugar levels. It is not recorded if the home offered her diabetic snacks. There is no record of staff being given any specific advice on monitoring Mrs C's diet in view of either her diabetes or weight.
- During the inquest into Mrs C's death the care home manager reported that she did not consider Mrs C at risk of malnutrition. She said that Mrs C always appeared to eat well while in the care home.
- Complaints about other incidents while at the care home
 On 11 December 2015 Mrs C reported to a night care worker that she had been hit by someone in the care home and this happened 'all the time'. The care worker put a note on the electronic record saying they found Mrs C on the floor in her bedroom with 'no injuries'. They did not complete a falls, slip or trips record. The note says they asked Mrs C what she was saying but she did not repeat the comment about being hit. A hand-written log entry later that day reported Mrs C
- Managers at the care home did not take any action in response to the report. During the inquest into Mrs C's death the care home manager denied knowing of any specific allegation made by Mrs C that she had been hit. However, the deputy home manager said she thought all staff knew of Mrs C making the allegation. During our investigation the Council said the manager had spoken to Mrs C and asked her to repeat the allegation but that she could not do so.

Final report

being unsettled and asking for help.

- 37. On 18 December 2015 Mrs C's GP visited as Mrs C had a swollen and sore mouth. He diagnosed thrush. The GP was not told Mrs C had potentially swallowed paint from the wall of her room having been observed to have picked at that. Mr B says the paint was recent and still soft. A care home worker told the inquest into Mrs C's death she had reported this to a manager at the care home.
- 20. Council safeguarding procedures in force during the events covered by the complaint drew attention to the standards set out in the Care Act 2014. It said that an "alert" is a "concern or allegation which has been reported by a member of staff to their lead/manager within their agency". It said managers should decide within 24 hours of a concern being reported whether it met the threshold for a safeguarding referral, justifying enquiries. However, the procedures did not give guidance to managers on what concerns met the threshold.
 - Complaint about restructuring and staffing levels
- At the time Mrs C entered the care home it was undergoing changes as a result of a restructuring exercise. In June 2015 the Council had approved a plan to restructure its care homes. This followed CQC inspections which identified that its "care staff time [was] being used to cover other tasks and that this reduced the amount of time available to focus on resident care". The report also noted it was a time of "extreme budget pressures and limited resources" and that restructuring would be "more effective and efficient".
- 40. The central part of the restructuring was to introduce a senior care worker role in Council care homes alongside existing care workers. The senior care workers would work more with users of services than existing managers. Management across care homes would be cut with the loss of around two thirds of Deputy Unit Manager jobs from the service.
- 41. Deputy Unit Managers affected by the changes were made redundant by 9 January 2016. The Council anticipated having recruited senior care workers to replace them. However, this did not happen in all cases. In this case, the care home had made redundant one deputy manager by 9 January. While it had retained a single deputy manager post this manager had some leave of absence after January 2016. No senior care workers were recruited to the care home until July 2016. Between January and March 2016, the home therefore ran with only a single manager and an occasional relief manager. It had up to 25 residents.
- During the inquest into Mrs C's death the manager of the care home said that reduced staffing levels contributed to the decision not to complete care planning paperwork. This included the falls risk assessment and nutrition assessment for Mrs C.
- During the inquest a senior manager for the Council, 'Officer X', said that from September 2015 it knew of delays in recruiting senior care workers. Although they considered the delay in recruiting senior care workers to this care home exceptional. Officer X explained the Council sought to use agency staff or relief managers to help short-staffed care homes but this was not always possible. The manager also said that they recognised care home managers found it difficult to maintain records during this period. Officer X said senior managers had advised care home managers to focus on delivering care to residents more than completing care planning documents. In comments on the draft report the Council has also said that it made additional resources available to care homes that needed support during the transition period and were short-staffed as a result.

- Complaints about events following Mrs C's hospital admission on 26 March 2015
- Following an x-ray and examination at hospital Mrs C was found to have four fractured ribs and serious chest injuries. The hospital raised a safeguarding alert with the Council on the day of Mrs C's admission.
- The Council's safeguarding team made some initial enquiries with the care home, which reported Mrs C experiencing regular falls. It recorded the Deputy Manager of the Care Home saying Mrs C had reported being "in pain all week" but a GP had assessed her a week before and not taken further action. The safeguarding team suggested Mrs C's case should be referred to the falls prevention team. It also referred the case to Officer X, who had responsibility for its care homes and asked her to make enquiries. But it did not make clear to Officer X if they were undertaking a safeguarding investigation on behalf of the Council or providing information to help with a safeguarding investigation. Officer X said at Mrs C's inquest she understood it was the latter.
- Safeguarding procedures in force at the time of this alert advised Council officers of the purpose of making enquiries into safeguarding alerts. This listed "the objectives of any enquiry into abuse or neglect" including:
 - ensuring the safety and wellbeing of the adult;
 - establishing facts;
 - establishing details about whether there are any risks to other adults in need of care and support; and
 - making decisions about what follow-up action should be taken regarding the person or organisation responsible for the abuse or neglect.
- Officer X sent an email to a social work manager at the hospital on 29 March further to a visit to the care home and discussion with the care home manager and deputy. This described events on 25 March. It also noted Mrs C having had "numerous falls" while in the Council's care and the home had been "discussing the benefit" of referring Mrs C to its falls prevention team. Officer X said "I do not have any concerns regarding [Mrs C's] care". The social work manager at the hospital then closed the investigation.
- On 2 April 2016 Mr B and Mrs C's niece attended a meeting at the care home with the manager as they were concerned about the injuries Mrs C had sustained. They discussed events on 25 March and asked if the care home considered it could meet Mrs C's needs on discharge. The family were not reassured by that discussion and by 6 April had indicated a reluctance to let Mrs C return to the care home, wanting further investigation into her care. Mr B wrote to the Council the same day expressing concern at the circumstances surrounding Mrs C's admission to hospital and extent of the investigation into this.
- In response, on 6 April 2016, the Council agreed to re-open the safeguarding investigation.
- On 12 April 2016 Mr B contacted the CQC with his concerns. It acknowledged his contact and said it had not been told by the Council of Mrs C's fall or admission to hospital.
- 51. On 14 April 2016 the Council sent the CQC notification of Mrs C's fall on 25 March and details of the safeguarding alert. The CQC asked the Council if it had completed a RIDDOR notification.

- 52. Mrs C did not recover from her injuries and died in hospital on 16 April 2016.
- 53. On 19 April 2016 the Council submitted a RIDDOR notification to the HSE and sent notification of Mrs C's death to the CQC.
- On 9 May 2016 Mr B and relatives attended a meeting with a senior safeguarding manager and others from the Council. The Council said as part of the safeguarding investigation it would consider any comments or concerns raised by the family. It would interview staff at the care home about events on 25 and 26 March. Mr B also received a report at that meeting which included:
 - that Mrs C had reported pain in her left side from the time she arrived at the care home. The GP had not identified the cause;
 - she had experienced frequent falls at the care home;
 - a more detailed account of events on 25 March 2016;
 - a recommendation that care home staff consider summoning medical help when a resident with dementia suffers an unwitnessed fall; even if they do not appear to have sustained injury; and
 - a further recommendation that referrals are made to the Council's falls prevention team.
- On 15 May 2016 Mr B submitted a detailed statement and list of questions from the family around Mrs C's care. This included questions about events on 25 and 26 March. But Mr B also raised concerns about Mrs C experiencing weight loss while in the care home. He also asked for more details about the frequent falls and asked what steps the Council had taken to assess these or prevent them. He queried if the care home had the necessary experience and expertise to meet Mrs C's needs.
- 56. The Council had a further meeting with Mr B on 26 May 2016. The meeting again discussed the family's concerns. Mr B asked if the Council had completed a RIDDOR following Mrs C's death. The family expressed concern that they were 'making the running' in pushing for an investigation into Mrs C's care. They remained concerned at the initial safeguarding investigation which they considered inadequate.
- 57. On 9 June 2016 Officer X provided a document which further explained events on 25 and 26 March 2016 based on interviews with staff. This was sent to the CQC the same day and described as a 'preliminary investigative report'. It commented on its weight monitoring of Mrs C saying she would sometimes not sit on the weighing scales when asked to. It noted records of 18 falls, although pointed out these were when staff found Mrs C on the floor and she may sometimes have 'slid' to the floor. It acknowledged the failure to complete a falls risk assessment or referral to the falls prevention service. The report said Mrs C experienced "a good overall standard of care" but "there are areas of practice that require review" including understanding of the falls prevention procedure and better or improved training to meet the needs of users with dementia.
- 50. On 21 June 2016 a safeguarding meeting took place attended by representatives from the Council, hospital trust, ambulance service, police and family. The organisations represented said they were not aware of any concerns raised about care standards at the home in the months before Mrs C passed away. During the meeting Officer X described Mrs C as "the most advanced dementia client" admitted to the care home. The meeting went over investigation into events on 25 and 26 March as well as hearing contributions from the other services. The

Council acknowledged at the meeting that its 'trips, slips and falls' forms had not contained all the information they should. Also, that it had not shared details of its initial safeguarding investigation. Further actions focused on co-operation being provided to the Coroner to aid their inquiry into Mrs C's death.

- 59. The Council sent Mr B a copy of the minutes and he made some comments on the same. On 21 July 2016 the Council closed its safeguarding investigation. It did not write to tell him this.
- on. In August 2016 Mr B contacted us wanting to complain about the circumstances surrounding Mrs C's death and the Council's subsequent investigation. We decided we could not investigate the complaint until the Council had opportunity to consider the complaint and respond. We also decided we would not begin an investigation until the Coroner inquest was completed.
- on. During our investigation we have also learnt that in August 2016 the Council received an anonymous letter raising concerns about the care home. We do not find the majority of those concerns engage with matters raised in this report. However, we note the author expressed concern at staff's completion of food and hydration charts. They also referred to Mrs C in the following terms: "Staff had concerns about a resident [Mrs C], she has now died and her family made a complaint. Staff told [...] about the problems".
- Officer X prepared a report into the content of the letter a few days after it was received. While the report noted the comment about Mrs C it did not address it. A few days later Officer X met with social workers with clients at the care home and a senior manager to discuss the letter. There are no comments recorded about Mrs C's case either in general discussion about standards in the care home or when those attending discussed the content of the letter.
- On 8 November 2016 the Council produced a "Regulation 20 duty of candour" report in response to further enquiries from the CQC. It set out the background to Mrs C's admission to the care home and explained the Council's understanding of events on 25 and 26 March. The Council acknowledged it did not implement its safeguarding procedure properly following Mrs C's admission to hospital. It said it had acknowledged to Mrs C's family that its communications had been poor and it had not followed the correct procedure of risk assessment and referral for Mrs C. It also acknowledged not signposting Mr B to its complaint procedure sooner.
- But the Council defended how it had shared information with Mr B since becoming aware of his concerns and the family's involvement in the safeguarding investigation. It described "the initial report submitted by [Officer X] as a preliminary report broadly providing the information gathered and was not meant to be definitive and full report". It therefore considered it had largely met the expectation to be open and transparent with Mr B. It also said that separately it had carried out a learning review.
- 65. The learning outcomes from that review highlighted:
 - the failure to carry out a falls risk assessment or nutritional assessment for Mrs C:
 - the lack of detail contained on 'slips, trips and falls documentation';
 - the lack of detail contained in weight charts;
 - the lack of detail contained in food charts; and
 - · that both care logs and case notes were also not as detailed as they could be.

- 66. The Council said as a result of the learning review:
 - it had revised admission procedures with more formal discussion with families during the early weeks of a resident's stay;
 - there would be more "shift reflection" between care staff, more audits of care records and more training for staff on completing documents;
 - senior care workers would address with care home staff how they recorded and responded to behaviour by users of services;
 - it would adhere to its safeguarding procedures and had revised its practice on sending RIDDOR notifications to the HSE; and
 - it had changed practice and adopted a more precautionary approach; calling GPs or other medical professionals following unwitnessed falls. It had also booked all staff on refresher training in falls prevention and reminded them of the existing policy.
- 67. On 15 November 2016 the Council sent its first response to Mr B's complaint. It acknowledged some poor practice in the care given to Mrs C, going over the findings highlighted by its learning review and the procedural improvements referred to. It repeated the information given to the CQC on 8 November in response to Mr B's concern the Council had not met the duty of candour. It apologised to Mr B for its failings.
- 60. In April 2018 an inquest took place into Mrs C's death, conducted by the Coroner for Derbyshire. In a narrative verdict he recorded the following:
 - Mrs C's death resulted from the effects of the injury she sustained from a fall on 25 March 2016. A low BMI had also contributed:
 - required assessments for her care plan had not been completed and actioned before 25 March 2016;
 - unexplained bruising had not been investigated and there had been no analysis or review of 25 falls recorded while at the care home;
 - the Court considered on balance the fall on 25 March would have been avoided had such review taken place and preventable measures taken; and
 - the reduction in senior staff at the care home contributed to the inadequate care planning.
- In May 2018 the Council wrote again to Mr B providing a final response to his complaint further to the inquest. The Council said it did not consider it could add to its earlier correspondence or the matters raised at the inquest and so signposted Mr B back to us.
- 70. In April 2019 the CQC began a prosecution of the Council for failing to provide safe care and treatment resulting in avoidable harm or a significant risk of exposure to avoidable harm under Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014 (Regulation 12 Social Care and Treatment). In June 2019 the Council submitted a guilty plea to this charge.
- 71. In reply to our enquiries and our draft report the Council has sent details of how it aims to ensure good care standards in its care homes, including improvements made since the events covered by this complaint. These include the following:
 - it has revised its audit procedures. Home managers undertake monthly client file audits, infection control audits and medication audits. They must also complete annual reports and annual health and safety audits. They must

- complete a 'falls monitoring spreadsheet' to identify and support users at risk of frequent falls. Senior Care Workers audit logs made by care workers within care homes. Senior staff specifically review pre-admission assessments, risk assessments and care plans;
- it has made changes to its falls policy. It reviews all residents considered at risk
 of falls. It refers residents at risk to healthcare professionals. It encourages
 staff to 'double-check' with senior staff where they have concerns for an adult
 considered at risk of falls or at increased risk of falls:
- that service managers from outside care homes undertake monthly quality visits which review care home documents. They also undertake six-monthly infection control and medication audits;
- that health and safety officers collate care home health and safety reports.
 They also undertake their own monitoring of matters such as fire safety and environmental health:
- using its audit team to carry out annual inspections. The Quality and Compliance Team will draw up service improvement plans if needed;
- ensuring safeguarding investigations are kept open if these identify improvements are needed;
- maintaining an up to date training record for staff; including identifying when they need to attend refresher courses;
- liaising with residents and relatives through user questionnaires. The Council
 also regularly reviews complaints to identify themes and trends;
- the Council also says that it works with external organisations. For example, the CQC and Healthwatch;
- it has established a quality and improvement board with one of its service directors as the Chair. The Board outlines projects for service improvements. It has a task force to help with any service at risk of failing; and
- it has commissioned a further independent expert review of the management of The Grange.
- In response to our enquiries the Council has sent us details of audits carried out as well as a Healthwatch Inspection carried out in October 2017. These show the Council carries out audits of individual care records as well as policies and procedures more generally. A CQC Inspection in October 2017 found the care home had appropriate safeguarding and whistle-blowing procedures in place as well as good care planning procedures.

Findings

The complaint about falls

- 73. We note with concern the multiple falls experienced by Mrs C in the care home. The Council missed many opportunities to assess and try to prevent Mrs C's pattern of falls.
 - First, when it failed to take account of the information already on its records when Mrs C moved to the care home. This was not the only occasion when care home managers did not pick up on important information being kept on the electronic notes. We find the Council failed to carry out a satisfactory preadmission assessment of the suitability of The Grange for Mrs C.

- Second, it failed to carry out a falls risk assessment once Mrs C moved into the care home despite its initial care planning procedures requiring this. The Council's falls risk policy has since been revised and improved, but it was still a useful policy guide for care home staff.
- Third, when it failed to carry out such a risk assessment in response to over 20 falls Mrs C experienced subsequently at the care home. We note how many of these falls were not adequately documented.
- Fourth, when it failed to act in response to a monthly review of Mrs C's care noting how often she fell.
- Fifth, when it failed to tell Mr B about the extent of Mrs C's pattern of falls. Had Mr B had opportunity to express concern this might have led the care home to revisit its management of Mrs C's care.
- 74. This repeated failure to carry any assessment of Mrs C's pattern of falls is fault. We do not consider Mrs C received safe care and treatment in line with the CQC fundamental standards; particularly Regulation 12 (see paragraph 10). The Council also failed to have adequate systems and procedures in place to ensure it mitigated any risks to Mrs C's health and safety in line with Regulation 17 (see paragraph 10).
- 78. This caused Mrs C significant injustice. Care records show Mrs C experienced repeated minor injuries as a result of her falls. We query also if these were complete noting the Council's failure to record the reason for the GP call out on 16 March. Ultimately, Mrs C suffered major injuries which led to her death, something the Coroner found avoidable. The Council's falls prevention policy explained the many steps it could have taken to reduce the risk of further falls and injuries associated with that.
- 76. The pattern of failure also caused injustice to Mr B and other members of Mrs C's family. They experienced their own distress learning of the poor care Mrs C received.

The complaint about monitoring weight

- m. We note a further pattern of failure in the Council's care planning.
 - First, the Council failed to complete an adequate nutritional assessment for Mrs C when she entered the care home.
 - Second, it failed to respond and complete such an assessment after Mrs C's weight dropped significantly in her first month in the care home.
 - Third, its records of Mrs C's weight were inconsistent and incomplete. A
 recording of her BMI taken in February 2016 was wrong. The Council did not
 keep any record of any occasion when Mrs C could not be weighed.
 - Fourth, while it monitored Mrs C's food and fluid intake many of the records of that were inadequate to make a judgment if this was satisfactory.
 - Fifth, it is not clear how the Council sought to manage Mrs C's diet in view of her diabetes.
- 70. These repeated failings lead us to find fault. We do not consider the Council met Mrs C's nutrition and hydration needs in line with the fundamental standards or kept adequate records (Regulations 14 and 17 - see paragraph 10).
- 79. The fault caused injustice to Mrs C. Her low BMI was a contributory factor to her death. While it is not clear if Mrs C had a low BMI at the point of her admission to

- hospital, she may have maintained a healthier BMI in the care home had it followed basic good practice.
- The fault also causes further injustice to Mr B and other members of Mrs C's family. They have experienced their own distress learning of how poorly the Council managed these matters while Mrs C was in its care.
- on. This part of the complaint has also highlighted an issue in how the Council keeps an audit trail of assessments, such as the nutrition assessment. Where staff partially complete an assessment, it should be possible to highlight what parts they complete on what day. We are concerned to note in this case the partial completion of Mrs C's nutrition assessment only after she entered hospital. We do not say it happened in this case, but the Council should take steps to guard against the possibility that staff might look to amend documents in the wake of poor care, to cover up mistakes.

Complaints about other incidents while at the care home

- It was not until after Mrs C's death that Mr B leant of certain incidents while Mrs C lived in the care home which caused him concern. Addressing these in turn it would appear the care home manager was not aware of the allegation made by Mrs C that someone had hit her.
- This concerns us, as staff did complete an electronic record of the report. So, this is the second occasion we have found that managers have failed to check appropriate electronic records. We also note that staff who found Mrs C on the floor, failed to complete an appropriate separate record of that fall. We also find the care home failed to tell Mr B of the allegation.
- It was fault for the Council not to consider if the allegation justified a safeguarding investigation. However, we cannot say this fault caused injustice. While Mrs C's suggestion could have triggered enquiries, the circumstances where she was found on the floor did not support the allegation. We note when asked, she did not repeat the statement or add detail. We do not think she could have therefore contributed further to enquiries. And there is no other evidence to suggest she suffered non-accidental injuries.
- We also note Mr B's concern the care home did not tell Mrs C's GP of the suggestion she may have eaten paint scraped from the wall of her room. This highlights a wider flaw in the Council's record keeping as while the care home did keep records of GP visits, it made only brief notes of these. So it was not always possible to form a clear picture of why it called the GP or how it recorded their advice. So the Council did not meet standards of record keeping required by Regulation 17 of the fundamental standards. The circumstances where Mrs C could pick paint off the wall also calls into question whether the Council met the fundamental standards required by Regulation 15 to maintain clean and hygienic premises (see paragraph 10).
- But we do not consider any failing here caused injustice to Mrs C. The GP acted in response of Mrs C's swollen mouth and tongue based on their own first-hand examination. We have not seen any evidence to say their diagnosis or treatment would have differed if told of Mrs C picking paint from the wall.

Complaint about restructuring and staffing levels

67. We accept the Council found itself under financial pressures in 2015 and wanted to re-focus its direct care services in response to comments made by the CQC following inspections. We understand therefore why the Council wanted to

- re-structure staffing in its care homes. We consider had that re-structuring gone to plan then this need not have affected the care Mrs C received.
- However, the restructure clearly did not go to plan. The Council must have known this by Autumn 2015 when it issued redundancy notices to deputy managers without yet having senior care staff to replace them. By early 2016 the Council clearly knew of the pressures this created in the care home, with managers neglecting to ensure essential risk assessments were completed. Although we also note in the case the Council had several weeks to complete care planning and risk assessments for Mrs C before any redundancies took effect.
- We understand the Council took some actions to try and mitigate the impact of the short staffing in the care home. Yet these were clearly ineffective. So, for at least six months the care home ran without enough managers or senior care workers in place. Senior managers both within and overseeing the care home service knew the Council was not carrying out basic care planning required as part of the fundamental standards of care. Yet they turned a blind eye to that and instead created a false distinction that completing mandatory risk assessments would take away from frontline care. This was fault. The risk assessments were fundamental to safe care provision, not an optional extra.
- 20. The injustice this caused for Mrs C was that of missed opportunity to address the shortfalls in care planning we have already detailed. It also adds to Mr B's distress that the Council knew basic care planning was not taking place yet allowed this to continue.
 - Complaints about events following Mrs C's hospital admission on 26 March 2016
- Our findings above reinforce what the Coroner's investigation found. There were failings in Mrs C's care planning which were not acted on by the Council, that meant her death was avoidable. But the Council then compounded these failings through an inadequate response when alerted to Mrs C's injuries by the hospital.
- The Council's safeguarding policy made clear it needed to conduct an enquiry into the circumstances surrounding Mrs C's admission to hospital with serious injuries. It needed to understand properly what had happened to Mrs C and consider consequences for other residents in the care home. As well as knowing of Mrs C's injuries on admission to hospital, it quickly became apparent she had suffered a pattern of falls in the care home.
- 23. Yet despite this the Council initially conducted only the most cursory of investigations. Its initial finding that there were "no concerns" for Mrs C's care flew in the face of the evidence we have detailed above. It did not explore Mrs C's care planning, its staff's awareness of its falls prevention procedure, their completion of risk assessments and so on. It failed to meet the requirement set out in the fundamental standards to have a robust safeguarding procedure to investigate potential neglect. (Regulation 13 see paragraph 10). It also wrongly recorded Mrs C had seen a doctor a 'week before' her fall when more than a week had passed.
- We recognise there may have been some confusion on the part of Officer X about what her role was when passed the safeguarding enquiry and the depth of enquiry needed. This in turn formed part of a wider procedural failing by the Council. Because it should not have been possible for it to close the safeguarding enquiry based on such an inadequate investigation. Indeed, it is arguable the circumstances of Mrs C's death justified referral to the Council's Safeguarding

- Adults Board to undertake a safeguarding adult review. But there is no indication that was ever considered. That was fault.
- 26. The Council's cursory and inadequate initial response led to a loss of trust by Mr B and members of Mrs C's family. The Council not only had a duty to Mrs C and other residents to properly investigate her injuries, but it had a legal duty to be candid with Mr B about the failings in its care. We recognise the Council made greater efforts after 9 May 2016 to investigate Mrs C's care and communicate with the family. But from the first few days after his sister's admission to hospital Mr B felt he had to "make the running" to ensure the Council properly fulfilled its legal duties. There is evidence for this as follows:
 - it was only after Mr B's intervention the Council re-opened the safeguarding investigation. That it was only at this point the Council involved the family in the safeguarding investigation;
 - it was only after Mr B contacted the CQC the Council carried out its legal requirement to notify it of Mrs C's fall and injuries; and
 - it was only after Mr B contacted the CQC the Council completed a RIDDOR notification having confirmed it needed to. This was despite the requirement being set out in its falls risk policy.
- 26. The above suggests the Council still did not react appropriately to news of Mrs C's injuries and death. This view is reinforced by consideration of the safeguarding investigation which concluded in July 2016. This acknowledged some deficiencies in care. But it failed to consider the following:
 - the reasons why staff at the care home had not been aware of the Council's own falls prevention procedure or failed to complete basic assessments;
 - if completing falls risk assessments may have helped reduce the risk to Mrs C's health and safety;
 - flaws in the care home's management of Mrs C's nutrition;
 - · potential implications for other users of the service; and
 - the failure to send the CQC prompt notification of Mrs C's fall in line with Regulation 18 of the fundamental standards (see paragraph 11).
- or. The safeguarding investigation which concluded in July 2016 therefore remained inadequate. This was fault. In addition, the Council then failed to tell Mr B the outcome of the safeguarding investigation, which was further fault. Mr B comments that throughout it was never explained to him the purpose of safeguarding investigations or how the Council carried these out.
- It was only because of Mr B's persistence in complaining and further enquiries from the CQC, the Council undertook further investigation into Mrs C's care. This was despite also receiving an anonymous letter which referred to Mrs C's case in August 2016. We note the Council did not use that opportunity to consider any wider implications for care at the home. It strongly appears from the records that not all officers who knew of the letter were told relevant information about Mrs C's case. We have not seen any evidence the Council shared with relevant officers:
 - details of Mr B's complaint made about the circumstances surrounding Mrs C's death;
 - details of the safeguarding investigation it had carried out into Mrs C's care following her death and its findings;

- that Mr B's complaint had also extended to concerns about Mrs C's weight loss and so had relevance to the concerns about food and hydration management raised in the letter; and
- any investigation it undertook into the letter writer's suggestion that staff at the care home had informed a named individual about 'problems' with Mrs C's care. There is no evidence to suggest any enquiries were made into this.
- It was only later the Council undertook its 'learning review' and completed the 'Regulation 20 duty of candour' response that acknowledged some of the wider failings in its practices. This included its failings around its risk management of Mrs C's falls, management of her nutrition, communications with her family and its safeguarding and reporting procedures. It also clearly reflected on how it could improve staff training for users of its service with more advanced dementia.
- We are satisfied therefore that from late 2016 onward the Council began to take steps to improve the quality of care in this care home and apply good practice more widely across its care homes. We are satisfied the Council has learnt appropriate lessons around management of care for individual users of its services. For example, in making sure it follows its own falls risk procedures. It has shown it now has a comprehensive system of audits and quality monitoring in place. It can demonstrate satisfactory reviews by the CQC and Healthwatch.
- But we have published this report as it is also important the Council learns lessons around openness and transparency when mistakes happen in its care services. The Council must also ensure it has a robust safeguarding culture and meets the legal requirement for candour if things go wrong. Its failures in this case caused injustice for Mr B. He was caused unnecessary distress and put to unnecessary time and trouble in ensuring there was a proper investigation into the care given to his sister and explanation for what went wrong.

Agreed action

- The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended)
- In addition to the requirement set out above, to remedy the injustice caused by this complaint the Council agrees that within three months of the date of this report it will:
 - give a further unreserved apology to Mr B accepting the findings of this investigation. It has said it will meet in person with Mr B to deliver this:
 - make a payment of £1,000 to a registered charity of Mr B's choice. We have taken account of Mr B's wishes here as he complained to make sure there is no repeat of the events covered by this complaint and did not wish any financial remedy be paid to him;
 - offer to pay for a memorial for Mrs C such as a park bench or tree planted in her memory, subject to agreement with Mr B about matters such as his preferences and location.
 - undertake a further review to see what further lessons might be learned from this complaint. This should cover:

- how the Council can make sure there is an audit trail of assessments which are left partially completed and then completed later to show what changes are made between versions;
- whether it can improve record keeping for staff in its care homes using both electronic and paper records to ensure that records are not missed.
 We note the unhelpful practice of some daily care logs being completed electronically and some by hand in this case;
- its current capture of information when GPs visit its care homes. It should audit to check these are clear in understanding why GPs have visited and to record advice given;
- a review of safeguarding procedures to consider whether they currently contain enough information to managers on what cases meet the threshold for beginning safeguarding enquiries;
- a review of safeguarding procedures to ensure that managers who are asked to complete enquiries are clear about the form in which these should be made and presented;
- a review of safeguarding procedures to make sure they take account of the views of families and what standards are expected with regard to communications with families either during or on completion of an investigation. This includes providing explanations to families on what safeguarding procedures entail and how they work;
- a review of how the Council undertakes restructuring of services to avoid gaps in care provision. The Council should reflect on how it can deliver restructuring projects without adversely affecting users of services and react when it identifies problems. For example, at the point it becomes clear that recruitment targets will not be met. Or when it receives reports from front-line services that key statutory services are not being carried out. It should consider what extra scrutiny it can give to the delivery of restructuring to avoid such gaps as occurred here; and
- any recommendations arising from the independent expert report commissioned to review the management of The Grange referred to at paragraph 71 above.
- The Council should present the outcome of the review (<u>see paragraph 103</u>) above to a relevant committee of elected members within two months of completion (i.e. within five months of the date of this report) and provide us with a copy of the minute of that meeting.

Final decision

For reasons explained above we uphold this complaint finding fault by the Council causing injustice.

Appendix 2

Summary Action Plan

Quality Improvement Board

The purpose of the programme board is to oversee quality and improvement issues in the Council's residential establishments and to ensure that effective, compliant and consistent processes are in place to identify, manage and escalate quality and improvement concerns/issues.

The work of the programme will be developed through the following work streams:

- Quality monitoring and improvement.
- Effective policy and procedures.
- Quality recording.
- Safeguarding arrangements.
- Quality workforce.
- Strengthening communication.

Priority Work stream: Quality Monitoring and Improvement Lead: CP – Group Manager Prevention & Personalisation

Focus and Purpose: To ensure that effective monitoring arrangements are in place to provide assurance to the Council that care homes are operating to the required standard and that these monitoring arrangements enable any problems to be quickly identified and addressed.

Key Actions	Status	Specific Actions	Due Date
Review current audit governance arrangements	Complete	The current arrangements have been reviewed and changed to ensure that there effective central oversight	November 2019
Develop effective monitoring tools.	In progress	Create central audit forms	February 2020
Promote a one council approach to quality monitoring of care services	In Progress	Engagement with corporate governance group Engagement with internal audit Meeting scheduled with Childrens Services regarding Ofsted arrangements.	March 2020
Develop transparent performance data	Complete	A Dashboard has been created and data is gathered against six key metrics to easily view themes and trends	January 2019
Establish escalation process to respond to concerns	In Progress	Review of reporting and responding to incidents 90% complete. SMT monthly update confirmed Notifiable Incident Form introduced	March 2019

Priority Work stream: Quality Policy and Procedures

Lead: JH - Group Manager, Quality & Compliance

Focus and Purpose: To ensure that the Policy and Procedures, under which the Council's Direct Services operate are comprehensive, comprehensible and 'user friendly' at a practitioner level. To ensure that all unnecessary duplication is removed and that the policies assist staff to work in accordance with the regulatory environment in which they operate.

Key Actions	Status	Specific Actions	Due Date
Identify all current policies and procedures that impact upon Direct are staff	Complete	Reviewed by external expert	August 2019
dentify additional capacity to review and redraft current policies and procedures	Complete	Appointment of additional GM with legal experience	December 2019
Ensure that all policies and procedures are up to date	In progress	10/12 Policies reviewed including Falls and Admissions and Discharge Policy. 2 to complete	January 2020
Engagement with key stakeholders to ensure policies are fit for purpose and user friendly	In progress	Engagement with Public Health re falls Consult with front line teams on new policies Engagement with training to ensure effective roll out to any policy change	

Priority Work stream: Quality Recording Lead: DS - Assistant Director, Adult Social Care

Focus and Purpose: To ensure that there are systems to enable clear recording of information in relation to the care and support of individuals within Council run care homes.

Status	Specific Progress	Due Date
In progress	Pilot scheme in process at two homes to increase wifi capacity to enable use of tablets.	February 2020
Complete	Additional training to staff on the use of Mosaic	September 2019
In progress	A number of forms have been revised to ensure when completed inform the Council's Dashboard programme. Continue with progress made	As required (continuing)
In progress	Ensure process of uploading of paper documents is embedded practice	March 2020
Complete	Comprehensive guidance for the completion of	September
In progress		2019 As required
	In progress Complete In progress In progress	In progress Complete Pilot scheme in process at two homes to increase wifi capacity to enable use of tablets. Additional training to staff on the use of Mosaic In progress A number of forms have been revised to ensure when completed inform the Council's Dashboard programme. Continue with progress made In progress Ensure process of uploading of paper documents is embedded practice Complete Comprehensive guidance for the completion of Personal Service Plan

Priority Work stream: Safe Services **Lead:** JR – Group Manager, Safeguarding

Focus and Purpose: To ensure that individuals in our care are free from abuse and the any harm or potential harm is

understood, investigated and responded to as per legal and regulatory requirement.

Key Actions	Status	Specific Progress	Due Date
Review of safeguarding arrangements in relation to residential establishments.	Complete	Lead for safeguarding has conducted two workshops for all Unit Managers and Service Managers	December 2019
Establish a system for recording and reporting and investigating all incidents that cause harm or potential harm	In progress	Intelligent Incident report form is being developed and will provide for consistent recording of incidents.	January 2020
to clients that may or may not meet the safeguarding presholds	In progress	Develop guidance to assist staff to use this form	January 2020
Ensure that themes and trends in relation to incidents are visible to identify immediate areas of concern	In progress	The data from the incident report form will feed into the Council's Dashboard and be monitored by the central Quality and Compliance Team	February 2020
Clarify roles and responsibilities in relation to investigating incidents	Complete	Assurance provided by the Councils lead for Safeguarding that the Safeguarding policies and procedures are fit for purpose.	November 2019
including the individual and their families.	In progress	Work to continue to strengthen joint working between Prevention and Personalisation and Direct Care.	As required
Review our approach to learning reviews and serious incidents to ensure these provide independent oversight and clear recommendations that ensure improvement.	In progress	Policy to be reviewed Recording mechanism developed to log and track current LR and actions for Direct Care	March 2020

Priority Work stream: Quality Workforce Lead: SS – HR Service Partner

Focus and Purpose: To ensure that we have a suitably trained workforce who are clear on their roles and responsibilities in line with a newly developed workforce plan. To ensure we have an effective workforce who are appropriately trained and clear of their

roles and responsibilities in line with the newly developed work force plan.

Key Actions	Status	Specific Progress	Due Date
Clarify roles and responsibilities of operational care home staff and responsible managers.	In process	Consultation complete with front line colleagues to understand roles and responsibilities.	March 2020
		Engagement with HR to ensure expectations are appropriate and consistent	
п		Consultation with union representatives	
Provide consistent message on expectations of roles.	In progress	Await above	May 2020
nderstand recruitment and		Meeting with corporate HR to confirm support	
retention challenges and actions.		with workforce planning. Above commenced	
To ensure that there is a clear induction and continued	In progress	Direct Care workforce group scheduled monthly	Continuing
professional development arrangements to meet	In progress	Regular development meetings in place with training team.	Continuing
workforce challenges.	In progress	Implementation of a new learning system to enable easy identification of essential training including review dates for each work role	January 2020
	In progress	Review relevant training in line with policy changes	As required
Review the current staffing allocation and current dependency tool	In progress	Meet with corporate HR to formalise arrangement	

Priority Work stream: Strengthening Communication **Lead:** YH – Group Manager, Prevention & Personalisation

Focus and Purpose: To ensure that we purposefully create an environment that enables positive communication across the service we will develop robust internal and external communication links between the care home, organisation and those using the services. This will ensure that there is an open dialogue and feedback about anything that relates to service quality and that that proposed developments or changes are understood and co designed by all stakeholders.

Key Actions	Status	Specific Progress	Due Date
Establish communication arrangements with residents and their families	In progress In progress	Process for documenting compliment and complaints streamlined to increase recording. Devise and issue a standard list of information to	January 2020 December 2019
		be visible/accessible to residents, staff and visits.	
Provide a clear communication oute for stakeholder to provide service delivery	Completed	Simplified format of quality assurance questionnaires for clients and families. Feedback form developed for P&P staff to raise concerns.	September 2019
Clear communication of Council and departmental objectives to front line care staff	In progress	Review of 'my plan' process in progress Refreshed briefing sessions for Service Manager and Unit Managers for Direct Care	January 2020
Promote environments that support collaboration and communication	In progress	All homes registered as Time Swap members Volunteer passport to be used in care homes Community events being arranged in all homes Quarterly resident/family meetings to be reviewed Newsletters to be reviewed to promote consistent messages.	May 2020